FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/25/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 4/24/2024 3:49 PM

Case #: 1029985

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. _____

No. 84849-6

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JONATHAN WESLEY EBBELER and ELIZABETH ASHLEY EBBELER, husband and wife,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

WFG NATIONAL TITLE COMPANY OF WASHINGTON, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; DANI LEGGETT and JANE/JOHN DOE LEGGETT, believed to be married persons,

Defendants-Petitioners.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The claims of Respondents Jonathan and Elizabeth Ebbeler ("the Ebbelers") are barred by collateral estoppel. The

Ebbelers continue their search for a scapegoat regarding a failed real estate transaction. In the end, however, as found by *two* trial courts and affirmed once through the appellate process, responsibility for the failed real estate transaction – the common issue driving these cases – falls entirely on the Ebbelers.

A. *Ebbeler I*

The Ebbelers were plaintiffs in the original lawsuit, *Ebbeler v. the Estate of Andrews*, King County Superior Court No. 19-2-14509-9 SEA ("*Ebbeler I*"). *Ebbeler I* centered upon the Ebbelers' failed purchase of a residential home after an embittered sale process between them and the Estate represented by Mr. Anderson (collectively, "Seller"). CP 370. *Ebbeler I* was fully litigated through a bench trial before the Honorable Sean O'Donnell of the King County Superior Court. CP 535. The Ebbelers made the strategic decision not to sue WFG and its employee Dani Leggett (collectively, "Escrow Defendants"). However, Ms. Leggett and Autumn Bray, both employees of WFG, were deposed in their professional capacities in *Ebbeler I*.

Ebbeler I determined: (1) what caused the transaction to fail; and (2) who was liable for such failure. Judge O'Donnell resolved both questions in a manner unfavorable to the Ebbelers, but consistent with Washington law. The Ebbelers then attempted to rename and re-litigate the same issues in this new lawsuit ("Ebbeler II").

At the conclusion of the bench trial in *Ebbeler I*, Judge O'Donnell ruled emphatically that "[t]he [Ebbelers] did not perform under the [Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement ("REPSA")] contract because they did not pay the full purchase price on or before closing." CP 370. Regarding the cause of the failed transaction, Judge O'Donnell was unequivocal: "...the money to complete the sale should have been there at closing and it was not. *That responsibility lay entirely with the Ebbelers and it is the ultimate failure for this purchase not happening.*" CP 372 (emphasis added). Simply put, the Ebbelers failed to deposit the full purchase price on or before the day of closing. CP 368.

The Ebbelers appealed to Division I of the Court of Appeals ("Division I"). *See Ebbeler*, 2022 WL 594121, at *1-15. Division I similarly ruled in favor of the Seller, finding that Judge O'Donnell's factual findings and conclusions of law were supported by substantial evidence. *Id.* The Ebbelers then petitioned the Washington Supreme Court for discretionary review, which denied the petition. *Ebbeler v. Andrews*, 199 Wn.2d 1024, 512 P.3d 901 (2022).

B. Ebbeler II

Following the failure of *Ebbeler I*, the Ebbelers filed the underlying lawsuit in this matter, *Ebbeler v. WFG Nat'l Title Co.* of Washington, King County Superior Court No. 21-2-15237-2 SEA ("Ebbeler II"). Ebbeler II was filed against the intermediary Escrow Defendants who provided title and escrow services for the failed transaction. *Id.* Despite a complete absence of new facts or other information coming to light, the Ebbelers asserted a variety of claims rooted in the same facts and circumstances as *Ebbeler I*.

The same factual and legal issues came before the trial court in *Ebbeler II*, and Judge Jason Poydras granted a motion for summary judgment based upon issue preclusion on January 14, 2023. CP 1090-92. Having lost their second successive lawsuit, the Ebbelers appealed the decision of Judge Poydras to Division I.

Division I reversed, finding: (1) the identicality requirement was not satisfied; and (2) it would be unjust, under these circumstances, to not allow a real estate purchaser to maintain a separate cause of action against the seller and escrow company for damages.

C. Prior to The Ebbelers' Failures

The subject matter of both *Ebbeler I* and *Ebbeler II* is a residential property located in The Highlands neighborhood at 31 NW Cherry Loop in Shoreline, Washington ("Property"). CP 354. Seller listed it for sale in 2019. CP 354-55. On March 28, 2019, the Ebbelers forwarded a Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement ("REPSA") to the Seller, offering to purchase the

Property for \$2,000,000. CP 355. In their offer, they chose the form of contract, closing date, title company, "time of the essence" clause, and other material terms. CP 355, 388-406. Seller made a counteroffer of \$2,625,000, and included two additional forms: (1) an addendum with a form of deed to be used in closing; and (2) Form 17 disclosures. CP 355, 386-87. The Form 17 disclosures informed the Ebbelers that the Property was not connected to a public sewer and that The Highlands required the sewer system to be upgraded and connected to public utilities. CP 358. The Ebbelers accepted the modifications to the REPSA and settled on a purchase price of \$2,300,000. CP 356.

The REPSA required that the Ebbelers "shall pay the Purchase Price, including the Earnest Money, in cash at closing," specified the closing date was May 29, 2019, and that "Buyer and Seller agree that all contingencies are deemed to be waived." CP 356. The REPSA also included a "time of the essence" clause: "This sale shall be closed by the Closing Agent on the Closing Date." CP 356. At trial, Judge O'Donnell found that

Mr. Ebbeler clearly understood that the REPSA contained a "time of the essence clause." CP 357.

Mr. Ebbeler is an intelligent, sophisticated entrepreneur who studiously follows the contracts he enters. He is unafraid of seeking advice when something is unclear. The meaning of this term was not lost on him.

CP 357. Judge O'Donnell also determined that the Ebbelers waived all contingencies by May 3, 2019. CP 358.

D. The Failure to Agree

The parties to the REPSA continued negotiating the issue of the Property's sewer connection. CP 358-59. The sewer District planned to perform the sewer work later in the summer of 2019, after the transaction's anticipated closing date. *Id.* The Ebbelers and the District's General Manager acknowledged that "closing with holdover" was acceptable. *Id.* The amount of the holdover, however, was undetermined and hotly contested between the Ebbelers and the Seller. *Id.* The dispute between the parties continued to fester. *Id.*

E. The Failure to Fund

The Ebbelers pursued financing for \$2,100,000 through WaFed. CP 359-60. On April 24, 2019, WaFed sent a "notice of incompleteness" to the Ebbelers advising them of incomplete Prior To Documents ("PTD") Conditions. CP 360. On May 13, 2019, WaFed sent an email to the Ebbelers further advising that PTD Conditions must be met by May 20, 2019. CP 360. It is unclear whether these PTD Conditions were ever met by the Ebbelers prior to closing. CP 361, 410-21.

WFG sent various loan funding documents to the Ebbelers, including the promissory note, deed of trust, and disclosures ("Loan Documents"), and WFG arranged a mobile notary to execute the Loan Documents. CP 360. A Statutory Warranty Deed was included, instead of a Personal Representative Deed. When completing their Loan Documents, the Ebbelers signed and verified that they had "READ AND APPROVED" the Statutory Warranty Deed. CP 363. The

Ebbelers did not return the Loan Documents until May 28, 2019, just one day before closing. CP 361.

Upon receipt of the Loan Documents, WFG transmitted them to WaFed. CP 361. WaFed began reviewing the Loan Documents at approximately 7:00 p.m. on May 28, 2019. CP 361. Upon reviewing the Loan Documents that WFG prepared and the Ebbelers completed, WaFed discovered that they contained at least 13 errors and/or omissions by the Ebbelers. CP 361, 410-21. The Ebbelers' errors included but were not limited to, missing notary stamps, missing names, missing addresses, and missing signatures. CP 361, 410-21.

With Mr. Ebbeler's knowledge regarding real estate, it is unclear why the Loan Documents were not properly completed in a more timely manner. CP 355, 357. WaFed communicated these errors to the Ebbelers' mortgage broker, Phil Mazzaferro, at 10:58 a.m. on the day of closing. CP 361, 410-21. WaFed also expressly advised that the loan would not be funded at closing if the errors remained. CP 361, 410. WFG began

correcting the Ebbelers' errors; however, some errors required performance from the Ebbelers, including signatures on various Loan Documents. CP 362, 410.

Issues remained on closing day: the sewer issue was not resolved; errors and omissions remained on the Loan Documents; and WFG was informed a Personal Representative Deed was required to replace the Statutory Warranty Deed. CP 366.

Despite WFG's request that the Seller appear for signing before 11:00 a.m., the Seller appeared between 2:17 and 2:48 p.m. All documents were then signed, except for the Statutory Warranty Deed, which was signed at 3:51 p.m. Division I made the following ruling regarding the delay related to the execution of the Personal Representative Deed:

[T]he evidence supports the findings that the Estate was ready, willing and able to execute a personal representative's deed in time for conveyance documents to be recorded on May 29, 2019, and the delay in executing the personal representative's deed did not cause this transaction to fail.

CP 707.

Not everyone performed as required. The Ebbelers only deposited \$690,000 of the \$2,300,000 purchase price with their closing agent. CP 368. Judge O'Donnell made the following conclusion of law regarding the Ebbelers' failure to fund the transaction: "The [Ebbelers] did not perform under the REPSA contract because they did not pay the full purchase price on or before closing." CP 370. With the relationship between the Ebbelers and the Seller fatally embittered over the sewer hookup issue, a closing extension was denied by the Seller, and the Ebbelers filed suit the next day, on May 30, 2019. CP 369.

V. <u>ARGUMENT - REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED</u>

A. <u>Collateral Estoppel Precludes Re-litigation of The Ebbelers' Claims.</u>

Collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, takes effect when the following elements are met:

(1) the issue decided in the earlier proceeding was identical to the issue presented in the later proceeding; (2) the earlier proceeding ended in a judgment on the merits; (3) the party against whom collateral estoppel is asserted was a party to, or in privity with a party to, the earlier proceeding; and

(4) application of collateral estoppel does not work an injustice on the party against whom it is applied.

Christensen v. Grant County Hosp. Dist. No. 1, 152 Wn.2d 299, 307, 96 P.3d 957 (2004); see also Sprague v. Spokane Valley Fire Dept., 189 Wn.2d 858, 899, 409 P.3d 160 (2018). Washington law allows a nonparty to the prior litigation to rely on collateral estoppel. Hadley v. Maxwell, 144 Wn.2d 306, 311, 95 P.3d 321 (2001); see also State v. Mullin-Coston, 152 Wn.2d 107, 113-14, 95 P.3d 321 (2004).

Collateral estoppel is not novel to Washington. Indeed, the United States Supreme Court has applied issue preclusion:

Such repose is justified on the sound and obvious principle of judicial policy that a losing litigant deserves no rematch after a defeat fairly suffered, in adversarial proceedings, on an issue identical in substance to the one he subsequently seeks to raise. To hold otherwise would, as a general matter, impose unjustifiably upon those who have already shouldered their burdens, and drain the resources of an adjudicatory system with disputes resisting resolution.

Christensen, 152 Wn.2d at 307; quoting Astoria Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Solimino, 501 U.S. 104, 107-08, 111 S. Ct. 2166, 115 L. Ed. 2d 96 (1991) (emphasis added).

The elements in contention here are: (1) the issue decided in *Ebbeler I* was identical to the issue presented in *Ebbeler II*; and (2) the application of issue preclusion does not work an injustice against The Ebbelers.

1. The issue decided in *Ebbeler I* is the same as decided in *Ebbeler II*

The issue in both cases is clear: Who is responsible for the failed sale? Answer: The Ebbelers. Their new *claims* are irrelevant to proper issue preclusion.

"Collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, is the applicable preclusive principle when 'the subsequent suit involves a different claim but the same issue." Lemond v. State, Dept. of Licensing, 143 Wn. App. 797, 804 180 P.3d 829 (2008); quoting Phillip A. Trautman, Claim and Issue Preclusion in Civil Litigation in Washington, 60 WASH. L.REV. 805 (1985) (emphasis added). "Thus, '[w]hen an issue of fact or law is

actually litigated and determined by a valid and final judgment, and the determination is essential to the judgment, the determination is conclusive in a subsequent action between the parties, whether on the same or a different claim." Id.; citing RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF JUDGMENTS § 27 (1982) (alteration in original) (emphasis added).

"Thus, application of collateral estoppel is limited to situations where the issue presented in the second proceeding is identical in all respects to an issue decided in the prior proceeding, and 'where the controlling facts and applicable legal rules remain unchanged.' *Id.*; *quoting Standlee v. Smith*, 83 Wn.2d 405, 408, 518 P.2d 721 (1974) (internal quotation marks omitted) (citations omitted). "Further, issue preclusion is only appropriate if the issue raised in the second case 'involves substantially the same bundle of legal principles that contributed to the rendering of the first judgment,' even if the facts and the issue are identical." *Id.* (citations omitted).

Here, we have the same issue, the same controlling facts, and the same bundle of legal issues. *Ebbeler I* examined what caused the transaction to fail, including the actions of the Seller, the intermediatory Escrow Defendants, and the Ebbelers. Judge O'Donnell (affirmed by Division I) held that the Ebbelers breached the REPSA because they did not pay the full purchase price on or before closing. CP 370, 707. Division I held that the delay caused by the Escrow Defendants (mistake in executing the personal representative's deed) did not cause this transaction to fail. CP 707.

Causation for the failure lay entirely with the Ebbelers. Judge O'Donnell unequivocally ruled: "...the money to complete the sale should have been there at closing and it was not. *That responsibility lay entirely with the Ebbelers and it is the ultimate failure for this purchase not happening*." CP 372 (emphasis added).

"[C]ollateral estoppel extends only to ultimate facts, *i.e.*, those facts directly at issue in the first controversy upon which

the claim rests, and not to evidentiary facts which are merely collateral to the original claim." *McDaniels v. Carlson*, 108 Wn.2d 299, 738 P.2d 254 (1987) (citations omitted) (internal quotations omitted).

"To determine which issues in a prior litigation amount to ultimate facts, courts consider whether a rational jury could have grounded its verdict upon an issue other than that which the party seeks to foreclose from consideration." *Medicraft v. Washington*, No. 21-CV-1263-BJR, 2023 WL 3599554, at *4 (W.D. Wash. May 23, 2023) (unpublished). In other words, "collateral estoppel precludes a jury from reaching a directly contrary conclusion rather than a conclusion reached by a prior jury." *State v. Eggleston*, 164 Wn.2d 61, 74-75, 187 P.3d 233 (2008); *citing Dowling v. U.S.*, 493 U.S. 342, 348, 110 S. Ct. 668, 107 L. Ed. 2d 708 (1990)) (emphasis added).

¹ Cited pursuant to GR 14.1(b). A copy of the opinion for this case is attached hereto as <u>Appendix B</u>.

The "ultimate facts" of the failed transaction have already been judicially determined. CP 354-69. This includes items related to the administration of the Ebbelers' Loan Documents. These Loan Documents were sent to the Ebbelers' Maryland home for them to complete, sign, and have notarized. CP 360. The Ebbelers returned their Loan Documents to WFG incomplete, missing signatures, and requiring additional notarizations. CP 361, 410-21. The Ebbelers' broker was made directly aware of these errors, yet, at trial, they were unable to establish that the errors were corrected, or that corrected Loan Documents were provided to WaFed. CP 362-63. Moreover, WaFed expressly advised the Ebbelers via email that the loan would not be funded if the errors were not remedied. CP 361, 410. Much of the Ebbelers' angst, currently misdirected at the Escrow Defendants, appears more justly directed toward themselves or their own lender.

WFG concedes (and has never disputed) that its employees initially prepared an incorrect Statutory Warranty

Deed instead of a Personal Representative Deed, as required by the addendum to the REPSA. However, both the trial court and Division I found that any delay associated with the initial incorrect deed did not cause the transaction to fail. CP 707.

The ultimate question, and the main fact at issue, previously resolved in *Ebbeler I*, is: What caused this transaction to fail?

Division I's application of the facts has causation arising out of a different context. It stated "[t]he sole issue in *Ebbeler I* was whether the Ebbelers or the Estate breached their duties under the REPSA." Division I believes the new "issues raised in *Ebbeler II* concern whether the Escrow Defendants' breach of their separate contractual and tort duties caused the Ebbelers to breach the REPSA and, as a result, forfeit their earnest money and lose the opportunity to purchase the home."²

2

² Appendix A: *Ebbeler v. Andrews*, No. 84849-6-I, slip op. at 9 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 25, 2024) (unpublished), https://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/848496orderandopin.p df.

This assertion that WFG somehow prevented WaFed from funding the transaction is, however, merely the same issue that was previously decided in *Ebbeler I*. Moreover, it is clear from the record that the Ebbelers' inability or failure to properly complete the Loan Documents rendered WaFed unable to fund the transaction. Further, all relevant facts regarding WFG's involvement in preparing the Loan Documents, communicating with the parties, and preparing the deeds were identified and litigated in Ebbeler I. CP 361, 363-64, 366-67, 707. At the conclusion of that trial, such facts were determined by Judge O'Donnell *not* to be the cause of the failed transaction. *Id*. Critically, Mr. Ebbeler "could have paid cash" for the Property at any point prior to closing. CP 355. This would have obviated any administrative issues related to the loan.

The purpose of *Ebbeler I* and *Ebbeler II* are identical; the Ebbelers seek to recover the lost earnest money. *See Christensen*, 152 Wn.2d at 310; *see also State v. Williams*, 132 Wn.2d 248, 257, 937 P.2d 1052 (1997) (discussing that courts

should consider the "purpose" of the different proceedings). The Ebbelers attempt to conflate the issues by asserting new <u>claims</u> against the Escrow Defendants for alleged breach of contract and good faith, but the "purpose" of this lawsuit is identical. As such, collateral estoppel applies to prevent re-litigation of ultimate facts and issues addressed in *Ebbeler I*.

Courts have before blurred the lines between issue preclusion and claim preclusion. But the two must remain separate for proper application. Causation of the failed transaction was the underlying issue in *Ebbeler I*. Both trial courts and (initially) Division I have acknowledged the same, and the issue remains unchanged. The only change is differently worded claims against new defendants.

The Ebbelers may argue a separate proximate cause resulted from WFG's alleged failure to provide proper instructions when it allegedly received conflicting instructions from the Seller. However, this argument is unpersuasive for two reasons.

First, there is no evidence that the Seller provided conflicting instructions. Instead, the record shows Seller signed the corrected deed at 3:51 p.m. on closing day. CP 367. To be clear, Judge O'Donnell found the Seller was ready, willing, and able to execute the necessary closing documents. CP 707.

Second, the court of appeals held that the delay in preparation of any deeds did not cause the transaction to fail.

CP 707. In the end, the Ebbelers alone caused the sale to fail.

2. No Injustice From Issue Preclusion

Division I incorrectly ruled the Ebbelers would suffer injustice from application of issue preclusion.³ This ruling is incorrect, according to Washington law:

The injustice factor is generally concerned with procedural regularity: whether the first forum presented an equally full and fair opportunity to litigate, and whether a disparity of relief reduced a party's reason for vigorously litigating an issue in the first proceeding. *Id.* at 309, 96 P.3d 957.

³ Appendix A: *Ebbeler v. Andrews*, No. 84849-6-I, slip op. at 9 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 25, 2024) (unpublished), https://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/848496orderandopin.pdf.

<u>Injustice is a nonissue when the first and second</u> forum, and the relief available, were the same.

Matter of Wilson, 17 Wn. App.2d 72, 87 484 P.3d 1 (2021); quoting Christensen, 152 Wn.2d at 308, 96 P.3d 957 (2004) (emphasis added).

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