FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/24/2024 11:12 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1029985

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JONATHAN WESLEY EBBELER and ELIZABETH ASHLEY EBBELER, husband and wife,

Respondents,

v.

WFG NATIONAL TITLE COMPANY OF WASHINGTON, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; DANI LEGGETT and JANE/JOHN DOE LEGGETT, believed to be married persons,

Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory W. Albert WSBA #42673 Jonah L. Ohm Campbell WSBA #55701 Albert Law PLLC 3131 Western Avenue Suite 410 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 576-8044

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

C. ARGUMENT

(1) This Case Concerns Only the Parties, Not Broadly Important Issues

As the petitioners seem to concede by not citing RAP 13.4(b)(4), this case does not present any issues of broad public importance. An issue is of substantial public importance when the Court of Appeals decision has "sweeping implications." *State* v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 578, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). But here, the petitioners say nothing about what Division I's opinion means for the rest of the state. For good reason: there are no implications for other buyers and sellers of real estate in Washington. The opinion also means nothing for escrow agents, as it did not alter, reinterpret, or even decide their duties and liabilities to the property buyers who hire them. See Op. at 1-15. Rather, the Court of Appeals analyzed the parties' individual dispute and how the trial court's findings and conclusions in Ebbeler I might preclude litigation of the issues in Ebbeler II. See Op. at 1-15. This case, in short, is a private dispute. See Westerman v. Cary, 125 Wn.2d 277, 286, 892 P.2d 1067 (1994) (explaining that whether a "continuing and substantial public interest" justifies review of an issue turns in part on whether the issue is "of a public or private nature"). With such a narrow reach, this case is unworthy of this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The Petition Shows No Conflict in Decisional Law (2) The petition gives only a passing nod to RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). On page 2, the petition cites those criteria and then claims that Division I's decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in Reninger v. State Department of Corrections, 134 Wn.2d 437, 951 P.2d 782 (1998) and Christensen v. Grant County Hospital District No. 1, 152 Wn.2d 299, 96 P.3d 957 (2004), and with Division I's own decision in Lemond v. State, Department of Licensing, 143 Wn. App. 797, 180 P.3d 829 (2008). But in the petition's body, those cases are almost forgotten. See Pet. at 12-28. The petition hardly mentions them, and it does not articulate any conflict between those cases' legal principles and Division I's opinion. The petition's gripe is entirely about the conclusions

that Division I reached after applying well-trodden principles to this case's particular circumstances. That does not make a Supreme Court case. Another decision unmentioned in the petition, *Sanwick v. Puget Sound Title Ins. Co.*, 70 Wn.2d 438, 423 P.2d 624 (1967), confirms the lack of a reviewable conflict under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

(a) <u>Division I Applied Undisputed Principles of</u> <u>Collateral Estoppel</u>

While the parties disagreed on the legal principles that controlled other issues in the case, such as the nature of the escrow agent's tort duty to the Ebbelers, the parties agreed on the contours of collateral estoppel. Division I's opinion reflected and applied these same principles.

Collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, comprises four elements. There must be (1) identical issues; (2) a final judgment on the merits; (3) the party against whom estoppel is to be applied must have been a party in the prior adjudication; and (4) applying the doctrine must not work an injustice. *E.g.*, *Malland v. Dep't of Retirement Sys.*, 103 Wn.2d 484, 489, 694 P.2d 16 (1985);

P.3d 160 (2018). The party who asks the court to apply collateral estoppel bears the burden of establishing these elements. *E.g.*, *Gosney v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 828, 876, 419 P.3d 447, *review denied*, 191 Wn.2d 1017 (2018).

These same principles appear in the petitioners' briefing in the Court of Appeals. *See* Br. of Respondents at 20-21. The petition restates them. Pet. at 12-14. Division I employed this same four-part framework too. Op. at 8. Given the apparent unanimity about the law of collateral estoppel, this case presents no conflict warranting review. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

(b) <u>Division I's Opinion Was Consistent with</u> <u>Lemond</u>

While the petitioners feature *Lemond*, 143 Wn. App. 797, Pet. at 2, their attempt to manufacture a conflict with it falls flat. To begin with, the petitioners did not mention *Lemond* in their briefing below. *See* Br. of Respondent at 1-47. And Division I's opinion cited *Lemond* only for general, non-controversial principles. Op. at 8, 10. In other words, *Lemond* floated in the

background, but no one thought that *Lemond* mattered much, and Division I did not suggest that *Lemond* was wrongly decided or that Division I was distinguishing it here. Op. at 8, 10. This case does not present one of the "divisional conflicts" that arise when one panel refuses to follow an earlier panel's decision. *In re Arnold*, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017).

Instead, Division I simply tried to apply the general principles restated in *Lemond*. As the panel noted, quoting *Lemond*, "[t]e first requirement to apply issue preclusion—identicality—limits issue preclusion to 'situations where the issue presented in the second proceeding is *identical in all respects* to an issue decided in the prior proceeding, and where the controlling facts and applicable legal rules remain unchanged." Op. at 8 (quoting *Lemond*, 143 Wn. App. at 805). With that principle in mind, the court then identified the issues in *Ebbeler I* and *Ebbeler II* and decided they differed. Op. at 9-10.

Perhaps the petitioners mean to say there is a conflict with

Lemond because Division I analyzed whether the *claims*, rather than the *issues*, were different. But even that were true, Division I's opinion would be only erroneous, not in conflict with *Lemond*. Division I's opinion never questioned that collateral estoppel means issue preclusion rather than claim preclusion. *See* Op. at 8-10.

But in any event, Division I correctly distilled the *issues*, not the *claims*, in its opinion. Op. at 9-10. Division I recognized that the appeal centered on "the causation *issue*" in each case. Op. at 9 (emphasis added). "The sole *issue* in *Ebbeler I*," concluded Division I, "was whether the Ebbelers or the Estate breached their duties under the REPSA, and the trial court concluded—in the context of that dispute—the Ebbelers breached." *Id.* (emphasis added). "In contrast," Division I explained, "the *issues* raised in *Ebbeler II* concern whether the Escrow Defendants' breach of their separate contractual and tort duties *caused the Ebbelers to breach the REPSA* and, as a result, forfeit their earnest money and lose the opportunity to purchase

the home." *Id.* (emphasis added). As Division I recognized, the petitioners were not parties to *Ebbeler I*. Op. at 12. Their responsibility for what happened also "was not material to the outcome of that litigation," because *Ebbeler I* turned on the contractual obligations of the Ebbelers and the seller to each other. *Id.* This issue-based analysis was a correct application of collateral estoppel principles.

While the petitioners disagree with Division I's conclusions, that's not a conflict with *Lemond*. And those conclusions about what were the "issues" in *Ebbeler I* and *Ebbeler II* do not amount to a Supreme Court case. As one-time determinations about these case's unique circumstances, they have no bearing on Washington law more broadly.

But make no mistake, Division I was correct. The petitioners cast the "issue" in broad, general terms, as if the trial court in *Ebbeler I* was in an open-ended search for the cause of the transaction's failure. But as the panel realized, this Court has instructed the lower courts to tailor their collateral estoppel

analysis to each case's context. *See McDaniels v. Carlson*, 108 Wn.2d 299, 305, 738 P.2d 254 (1987) (explaining that collateral estoppel does not apply when "an issue arises in two entirely different contexts"). Following this directive, Division I examined the context of the causation finding in *Ebbeler I* and realized it did not resolve why the Ebbelers were unable to timely fund the transaction. Op. at 8-10.

Division I also recognized that "the issue must have been 'actually litigated and necessarily determined' in that proceeding" for collateral estoppel to apply to the second proceeding. Op. at 8 (quoting *Scholz v. Wash. State Patrol*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 584, 595, 416 P.3d 1261 (2018)). WFG's and Leggett's responsibility were not litigated, and the petitioners never cite the record where it was. *See* Pet. at 1-29.

The petitioners' disagreement with the Court of Appeals opinion does not justify Supreme Court review. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

(c) <u>Division I's Opinion Was Consistent with</u> <u>Christensen and Reninger</u>

The "conflict," RAP 13.4(b)(1), that the petitioners

perceive between Division I's decision and *Christensen* and *Reninger* is not clear. Perhaps the petitioners mean that Division I wrongly concluded that it would be unjust to apply collateral estoppel in this case. Op. at 10-14.

The petitioners' argument rests on a faulty premise. According to them, "the Ebbelers made a strategic decision to not identify the Escrow Defendants as defendants in *Ebbeler I*, and should be required to live with such a decision." Pet. at 25. But that is wrong. This Court has recognized for decades that "collateral estoppel precludes only those issues that have actually been litigated and determined; it 'does not operate as a bar to matters which could have ... been raised [in prior litigation] but were not." *McDaniels*, 108 Wn.2d at 305 (quoting *Davis v. Nielson*, 9 Wn. App. 864, 874, 515 P.2d 995 (1973)). So the petitioners cannot argue about the issues that the Ebbelers could have joined in *Ebbeler I* but were not actually litigated.

Indeed, it would be unjust to punish the Ebbelers for taking a careful approach to litigation. Rather than bringing all

conceivable claims against all conceivable parties, the Ebbelers targeted their claims at the seller. As Division I realized, op. at 14, the Ebbelers pursued the exact litigation strategy that this Court endorsed in *Sanwick*, 70 Wn.2d at 444 (approving real estate buyer's separate lawsuits against seller and escrow agency). The Civil Rules also permitted the Ebbelers to pursue their separate claims against separate parties in separate suits. See CR 20(a) (permissive joinder). Neither the Estate nor the petitioners ever asserted that the petitioners were necessary parties in Ebbeler I. See CR 19(a) (mandatory joinder of necessary parties). In fact, the petitioners conceded at oral argument in the Court of Appeals that joinder was not mandatory. Op. at 14. And the Estate did not allege in *Ebbeler I* that WFG/Leggett were at-fault nonparties. See CR 12(i). Simply put, the petitioners did not have to be named in Ebbeler I. Applying collateral estoppel here would thus undercut the procedures contemplated in *Sanwick* and the Civil Rules.

Not only that, but also it would encourage litigation.

Plaintiffs would have incentives to employ scattershot litigation, naming every conceivable defendant and alleging every possible claim, lest a factual finding on an issue that is only tangentially related to an issue in a separate claim result in a binding outcome. Plaintiffs like the Ebbelers should be rewarded, not punished, for taking a cautious, step-by-step approach to civil litigation.

Because WFG/Leggett failed to correct the loan documents and failed to timely select the right deed, they caused the transaction to fail. And again, Leggett herself admitted that the Ebbelers personally could not have done anything differently to make the transaction succeed. CP 975. In these circumstances, it would be unjust to allow the petitioners to benefit from their own missteps to preclude civil liability that otherwise would attach. Washington has recognized for decades that "an agent whose negligent acts or omissions in the performances of the duties entrusted to him renders his principal liable in damages, is also liable for his own negligence." *R.N. v. Kiwanis Int'l*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 389, 406, 496 P.3d 748, 758 (2021), *review denied*, 199

Wn.2d 1002, 504 P.3d 825 (2022) (quoting *Russell v. City of Grandview*, 39 Wn.2d 551, 556, 236 P.2d 1061 (1951)). When an agent's mistake makes a principal liable, the principal has a right of contribution against the agent. *Kirk v. Moe*, 114 Wn.2d 550, 556, 789 P.2d 84 (1990).

WFG/Leggett's invocation of collateral estoppel runs contrary to these core principles, taking a basic right from the Ebbelers that other people in Washington who hire professional agents have. If the professional that they hired made them responsible for the transaction's failure, they should have a remedy from the at-fault professional. Division I agreed that "[a]pplying issue preclusion here would work an injustice against the Ebbelers because it would deprive them of their opportunity to obtain relief against [the petitioners]." Op. at 10-14. That case-specific judgment does not create a conflict with any of this Court's precedents. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

(3) The Petitioners Should Be Liable for the Ebbelers' Attorney Fees for Answering the Petition if They Prevail on Remand

"In Washington, attorney fees may be awarded only when authorized by a private agreement, a statute, or a recognized ground of equity." Labriola v. Pollard Grp., Inc., 152 Wn.2d 828, 839, 100 P.3d 791 (2004) (citing Fisher Properties, Inc., v. Arden-Mayfair, Inc., 106 Wn.2d 826, 849-50, 726 P.2d 8 (1986)). Based on the parties' contract here, the trial court awarded attorney fees to WFG and entered a judgment on the award against the Ebbelers. CP 1148-51, 1175-77. The contract provided that "[t]he parties jointly and severally agree to pay the closing agent's costs, expenses and reasonable attorney's fees incurred in any lawsuit arising out of or in connection with the transaction or these instructions, whether such lawsuit is instituted by the closing agent, the parties, or any other person." CP 445. WFG invoked this provision on appeal, too, asking for attorney fees under RAP 18.1(a). Br. of Resp't at 46. The Ebbelers objected to the trial court's fee award and to the WFG's

request on appeal, arguing that the fee provision was unenforceable in this kind of dispute. Br. of Appellants at 63-65; Reply Br. of Appellants at 34; *Bishop v. Jefferson Title Co., Inc.*, 107 Wn. App. 833, 852, 28 P.3d 802 (2001), *review denied*, 145 Wn.2d 1025 (2002). The Court of Appeals—correctly—vacated the trial court's award and denied WFG's request, reasoning neither party had yet prevailed. Op. at 15.

The Ebbelers ask this Court to direct the trial court to award their attorney fees for answering the petition if the Ebbelers ultimately prevail on remand. RAP 18.1(i)-(j); *Inland Empire Dry Wall Supply Co. v. W. Sur. Co. (Bond No. 58717161)*, 189 Wn.2d 840, 857, 408 P.3d 691, 699 (2018); *Wash. Fed. v. Gentry*, 179 Wn. App. 470, 496, 319 P.3d 823 (2014). Insofar as the trial court awarded fees to WFG under the escrow agreement, the Ebbelers are entitled to fees at trial and on appeal when they prevail. That is because the contractual fee provision must apply bilaterally, even if a court determines that the underlying contract is not enforceable in the parties' dispute.

RCW 4.84.330; *Labriola*, 152 Wn.2d at 839 (holding that the prevailing party was "entitled to an award of attorney fees under RCW 4.84.330, regardless of whether the contract is invalidated in whole or in part"). In other words, when WFG/Leggett would get the benefit of the fee provision if they were right, the Ebbelers should, too, under the mutuality principle of RCW 4.84.330.

D. CONCLUSION

This case was important to the Ebbelers and to the petitioners. The Ebbelers are grateful they had an appeal as of right to correct the trial court's error. But Division I's opinion was nothing more than error correction. The panel applied well-worn principles of issue preclusion, and petitioners present no conflict with anything other than their own view of this case's circumstances. They fail to meet any of the RAP 13.4(b) criteria for review. Review should be denied.

This document contains 4,123 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.